
Please ask for  Democratic Services: Telephone (01362) 656295
e-mail: democraticservices@breckland.gov.uk

AGENDA
NOTE: In the case of non-members, this agenda is for information only

Committee - CABINET
Date & Time - TUESDAY, 4TH SEPTEMBER, 2018 AT 

10.00 AM

Venue - CARNEGIE ROOMS, CAGE LANE, 
THETFORD IP24 2EA

There will be an opportunity for members of the public to ask 
questions of the Cabinet from 9.30 to 10.00am.

Members of the Committee requiring further information, or with specific 
questions, are asked to raise these with the appropriate officer at least 
two working days before the meeting.  If the information requested is 

available, this will be provided, and reported to Committee.

The Cabinet

Mr J.W. Nunn (Chairman)
Mr S. H. Chapman-Allen (Vice-Chairman)
Mr S.G. Bambridge
Mr P.D. Claussen

Mr J.P. Cowen
Mr M. S. Robinson
Mr A.C. Stasiak
Mrs A. M. Webb

PERSONS ATTENDING THE MEETING ARE 
REQUESTED TO TURN OFF MOBILE TELEPHONES

Democratic Services 
Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke,
Dereham Norfolk, NR19 1EE

Date: Wednesday 22 August 2018

Public Document Pack





Cabinet
04 September 2018

PART A - ITEMS OPEN TO THE PUBLIC

Page(s)
herewith

PUBLIC QUESTIONS
There will be an opportunity for members of the public to ask 
questions of the Cabinet from 9.30 to 10.00am.

1. MINUTES 5 - 10
To confirm the Minutes of the meeting held on 24 July 2018.

2. APOLOGIES 
To receive apologies for absence.  

3. URGENT BUSINESS 
To note whether the Chairman proposes to accept any item as urgent 
business, pursuant to Section 100(B)(4)(b) of the Local Government Act 
1972.

4. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 
The duties to register, disclose and not to participate for the entire 
consideration of the matter, in respect of any matter in which a Member has 
a disclosable pecuniary interest are set out in Chapter 7 of the Localism Act 
2011.  Members are also required to withdraw from the meeting room as 
stated in the Standing Orders of this Council.

5. NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING 
To note the names of any non-members who wish to address the meeting.

6. CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (IF ANY) 

7. BRECKLAND COMMUNITY FUNDING APPLICATIONS (STANDING 
ITEM) 
To consider the grants put forward (if any).  

8. NORFOLK FA ARTIFICIAL GRASS PITCH PROJECT - BRECKLAND 
LEISURE CENTRE 

11 - 19

Report of Executive Member for Place, Councillor Paul Claussen.

9. LOCAL COUNCIL TAX REDUCTION SCHEME 2019-20 REVIEW 20 - 22
Report of Executive Member for Place, Councillor Paul Claussen.

10. BRECKLAND LOCAL DEVELOPMENT SCHEME 23 - 35
Report of Executive Member for Growth, Councillor Gordon Bambridge.



Cabinet
04 September 2018

Page(s)
herewith

11. CAPITAL FOR PUBLIC PROTECTION SOFTWARE SYSTEMS 
REPLACEMENT 

36 - 41

Report of Executive Member for People and Information, Councillor Alison 
Webb.

12. QUARTER 1 FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE 2018-19 42 - 52
Report of Executive Member for Finance and Delivery, Councillor Phil 
Cowen.

13. NORFOLK BUSINESS RATES POOL AND PILOT 53 - 56
Report of Executive Member for Finance and Delivery, Councillor Phil 
Cowen.

14. NEXT MEETING 
To note that the date of the next meeting of Cabinet will be held on 16 
October 2018 at 9.30am in the Norfolk Room, Elizabeth House, Walpole 
Loke, Dereham, NR19 1EE.



1

BRECKLAND COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

CABINET

Held on Tuesday, 24 July 2018 at 9.30 am in
Norfolk & Dereham Rooms, The Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Dereham

PRESENT
Mr J.W. Nunn (Chairman)
Mr S. H. Chapman-Allen (Vice-
Chairman)
Mr S.G. Bambridge
Mr P.D. Claussen

Mr J.P. Cowen
Mr M. S. Robinson
Mr A.C. Stasiak
Mrs A. M. Webb

Also Present
Mr W.P. Borrett Mr P. S. Wilkinson

In Attendance
Robert Campbell - Inward Investment Manager
Anna Graves - Chief Executive
Stephen James - Communities & Environmental Services Manager
Maxine O'Mahony - Executive Director of Strategy & Governance 

(Monitoring Officer)
Greg Pearson - Senior Policy Advisor
Teresa Smith - Democratic Services Team Leader

Action By

70/18 MINUTES 

The minutes of the meeting held on 12 June 2018 were agreed as a correct 
record and signed by the Chairman. 

71/18 APOLOGIES 

None.

72/18 URGENT BUSINESS 

None.

73/18 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

None.

74/18 NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING 

Councillors Borrett and Wilkinson.

75/18 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (IF ANY) 

Members were invited to the Norfolk Day Flag Raising event immediately 

5

Agenda Item 1



Cabinet
24 July 2018

2

Action By

following the meeting. 

76/18 BRECKLAND COMMUNITY FUNDING APPLICATIONS (STANDING ITEM) 

None.

77/18 MOTOR NEURONE DISEASE (MND) CHARTER 

The Executive Member for Place invited Sue Heel, a volunteer from the MND 
for the Norfolk, Norwich and Waveney branch since 2012 to speak.  She 
explained to Members how the fatal, progressive disease affected the brain 
and the spinal cord that could leave people feeling locked in a failing body, 
unable to move, talk and eventually breathe.  The Motor Neurone Disease 
Charter had been launched to promote the quality of care and support 
required for those that faced the conditions, and for people to understand and 
appreciate those difficulties. 

The Chairman fully supported the Charter and said the Council would do all it 
could to promote the knowledge of the disease, to help and support those 
affected across the County.

Options
1. To agree to sign the MND Charter.
2. To not agree to sign the MND Charter.

Reasons
Members were asked to demonstrate their support for the local people 
affected by MND by signing the MND Charter.

RESOLVED that Members demonstrated their support for local people 
affected by Motor Neurone Disease and signed the MND Charter.

78/18 RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY 

The Deputy Leader and Executive Member for Strategy, Governance and 
Transformation advised Members that Governance and Audit Committee had 
agreed the Risk Management Policy in June 2018.  The Policy did not make 
any change from how the Council approached risk management, but would 
formally adopt the current working practices of the Council into the Policy.

Councillor Borrett, Chairman of the Governance and Audit Committee added 
that he and the committee were keen to see a common approach be adopted 
across the Council.

Options
1. Cabinet to approve the adoption of the Policy.
2. Do nothing.

Reasons
The report was seeking for Cabinet to approve the adoption of the policy.  
The draft policy was seeking to formally adopt the working practices 
implemented over the last two years through the guidance of the Governance 
and Audit Committee.

RESOLVED that Cabinet adopt the Risk Management Policy following 

6



Cabinet
24 July 2018

3

Action By

agreement by Governance and Audit committee in June 2018.

79/18 LOCAL ENERGY EAST STRATEGY 

The Executive Member for Growth and Commercialisation informed Members 
that Breckland Council had been invited by the New Anglia Local Enterprise 
Partnership (LEP) to give formal consideration to the Local Energy East 
Strategy document.  It would be of great opportunity to capitalise on the 
growth of clean energy technology as a driver of technology growth along the 
Cambridge-Norwich Tech corridor.

Councillor Borrett was aware of parts of the County that would be ideal for 
Economic development, but did not have access to energy; as a result a 
piece of work was underway that looked at Norfolk giving a picture of not-
spots.   He felt it was a key piece of work that all Councils should buy in to.  

The Deputy Leader said it was a fantastic opportunity to influence future 
growth and utility energy growth across the District and asked what the 
membership would be of the panel.  The Inward Investment Manager said 
details were unknown but it was expected a sub-group would be set up in 
order to support the Delivery Group of which the Chief Executive was a 
member.

Options
1. To provide formal endorsement of the Local Energy East Strategy, as 

per the report recommendation. Under this option, Breckland Council 
would become a named signatory of the strategy and would provide 
formal endorsement. 

2. Do nothing. Under this option, the Council would not provide formal 
support for the strategy.

Reasons
The Local Energy East Strategy was focused around a number of matters of 
relevance to the Council’s own strategic priorities, notable concerning 
housing and economic growth, alongside the focus within the strategy in 
addressing issues that impact upon the growth, including power generation 
and distribution. For those reasons, it was recommended that the Council 
provided formal endorsement of the strategy.
 
There was an opportunity for Breckland Council to influence the delivery of 
the energy strategy now that we had direct representation on two New Anglia 
LEP boards.  We can best exert the influence as a named signatory of the 
strategy.

RESOLVED that the formal endorsement of the Local Energy East Strategy, 
be approved.

80/18 COMMUNITY RESERVE POTENTIAL PROJECTS 

The Deputy Leader and Executive Member for Strategy, Governance and 
Transformation was pleased to present the report that provided information 
on how the funds within the Community Reserve would be distributed.  The 
Community Reserve had been generated by the removal of the Council’s 
reliance on New Homes Bonus and would allow the Council to use it with the 

7



Cabinet
24 July 2018

4

Action By

manner in which it had been intended.

Councillor Robinson was in support of the recommendations adding that it 
created a better environment for the communities within the district. 

The Chairman pointed out that a significant amount of money had been 
allocated to support communities which had come about by ensuring the 
Council had carried out prudent work to streamline process, and focus on 
objectives that were a priority.

The Chief Executive added that a programme of work would be collated to 
ensure the delivery would be sustainable by working together with partners 
such as Department for Work and Pensions, and Town and Parish councils.

Councillor Cowen felt if the Council were going to invest funds to small 
businesses, support should be given to them in their infancy to ensure that 
they grow and develop into successful businesses.

Councillor Claussen looked forward to the delivery of the projects and gave 
thanks to the Leader of the Council for his vision and to the Chief Executive in 
delivering the projects. 

The Chief Executive added the programme would be evidenced by 
demonstrating the how the Council received value for money on what it had 
spent. 

Options
1) Do nothing 
2) Agree that the Community Reserve can be used to establish the 

projects as set out in the report. 

Reasons
By utilising the Community Reserve in the way set out in the report would 
bring significant benefits to both the Council and the residents. It would 
enable the council to invest in its community in a sustainable way that would 
bring long term financial benefits through either additional income or cost 
reduction. It would benefit residents by improving skills and income levels 
across the district.

The Council had made the decision to establish the Community Reserve. The 
budget for 2018-19 made provision that the money would be spent and 
Council Tax rates had been set taking this into account. By not spending the 
reserve the Council would have in affect set its Council tax rates too high.

RESOLVED that:
1) the allocation of up to £100,000 from the Community Reserve to create a 

themed granted scheme based on improving social mobility and delegate 
authority to the Deputy Leader, the Executive Member Place and the 
Executive Director Place to approve the developing service specification 
and any associate procurement activity be approved.

2) the allocation of up to £50,000 from the Community Reserve to carry out 
a feasibility study to explore the option of developing a commercial 
leisure offer in Swaffham, be approved.

8



Cabinet
24 July 2018

5

Action By

3) the allocation of up to £50,000 from the Community Reserve to carry out 
a feasibility study to explore the option of developing a commercial 
leisure offer in Attleborough, be approved.

4) the allocation of up to £100,000 from the Community Reserve be spent 
on transport to work schemes, and delegate authority to the Deputy 
Leader, the Executive Member Place and the Executive Director Place to 
approve the award of grants to these schemes from these monies, be 
approved.

5) the allocation of up to £100,000 from the Community Reserve to create a 
grant scheme to help support local entrepreneurs, and delegate authority 
to the Deputy Leader, the Executive Member Place and the Executive 
Director Place to approve the award of grants to individuals, or to award 
the administration of this fund to a third party organisation, be approved.

6) the allocation of up to £50,000 from the Community Reserve be spent on 
providing digital skills training to Breckland residents, and delegate 
authority to the Deputy Leader, and the Executive Director Strategy and 
Governance to approve the developing service specification and any 
associate procurement activity, be approved.

RECOMMEND to FULL COUNCIL:

7) the allocation of £200,000 from the Community Reserve be spent on the 
funding of Employment Officers, and that they delegate authority to the 
Deputy Leader, the Executive Member Place and the Executive Director 
Place to approve the developing service specification and any associate 
procurement activity be approved.

8) the allocation of £500,000 from the Community Reserve to establish a 
scheme of leasing/buying vacant shop units to be used as start-up units 
for small businesses be approved.

81/18 ANGLIA REVENUES AND BENEFITS PARTNERSHIP 

The minutes of the Anglia Revenues and Benefits Partnership Joint 
Committee meeting held on the 26 June 2018 were noted.

82/18 NEXT MEETING 

The arrangements for the next meeting on Tuesday 4 September at 10:00am 
in the Carnegie Rooms, Cage Lane, Thetford, IP24 2EA were noted.  

There would be an opportunity for Members of the public to ask questions of 
Cabinet Members from 9:30 to 10:00am.

83/18 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 

RESOLVED that under Section 100(A) of the Local Government Act 1972 the 
press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of 
business on the grounds that they involve the disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Act.

9



Cabinet
24 July 2018

6

Action By

84/18 PRIVATE AND CONFIDENTIAL MINUTE 

The private and confidential minute was agreed and signed by the Chairman.

The meeting closed at 10.05 am

CHAIRMAN

10



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Executive Member Place  

To: Cabinet – Tuesday, 4 September 2018 

Author: Chris Brooks, Contract Monitoring Officer

Subject: Norfolk FA Artificial Grass Pitch project – Breckland Leisure Centre & 
Waterworld

Purpose: To consider undertaking a project to install an Artificial Grass Pitch at 
Breckland Leisure Centre & Waterworld, Thetford  

Recommendation(s): 

1)  To agree to explore the feasibility of replacing the existing artificial playing surface at 
Breckland Leisure Centre & Waterworld with a 3G Artificial Playing Surface supported by 
funding from the Football Foundation and Breckland Council.  

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 Norfolk County Football Association has approached Breckland Council regarding the 
feasibility of delivering a Football Foundation project at Breckland Leisure Centre and 
Waterworld, Thetford.  The project would involve the redevelopment of the existing Multi 
Use Games Area (MUGA) and replacing the existing sand dressed astroturf pitch with an 
all-weather 3G Artificial Grass Pitch (AGP).   Norfolk FA’s own intelligence, coupled with 
the findings from the Breckland Council commissioned Evidence Base for Indoor and Built 
Sports and Recreational Facilities has identified the demand for improved football pitches 
in Thetford.  The leisure centre location is a key strategic site as the infrastructure and 
facilities to support this project already exist at the centre, which is managed well by 
Parkwood Leisure.  There are also strong links with Thetford Town Football Club, who are 
currently based at the site and there are a large number of clubs and community users in 
Thetford and the wider area that would benefit from the installation of an AGP which can 
be used year round.
 

1.2   The Football Foundation is the UK’s largest sports charity and is funded by the Premier 
League, The Football Association and the Government.  Every year the foundation directs 
£60m into grassroots sport.  Their mission is to improve facilities, create opportunities and 
build communities throughout England.  The foundation receives money from the Premier 
League and also from the Department for Digital, Culture, Media and Sport through Sport 
England.  
 

1.3   The Football Association has just announced an initiative to provide every Local Authority 
in the Country with a Local Football Facilities Plan (LFFP) by 2020.  Commencement of 
the LFFP for Breckland will be in September 2019.  This project would be delivered as 
part of this initiative.      
  

1.4   The Football Foundation gives priority to projects that are located within areas of high 
deprivation (as defined by the Governments Indices of Deprivation) and parts of Thetford 
are amongst the 10% most deprived neighbourhoods in the country (Index of Multiple 
Deprivation – Indices of Deprivation 2015 explorer). 

11

Agenda Item 8



1.5   Informal site meetings have taken place at Breckland Leisure Centre and Waterworld 
between the Football Foundation, Norfolk County FA, Breckland Council and Parkwood 
Leisure.  The Football Foundation has advised that based on the existing facilities and 
taking into account all other project criteria, that this would be a credible project.  The 
typical cost for this scale of facility is £650k, however this cost is based on a full project, 
there is existing infrastructure at the centre, so the proposed works would be less 
expensive.  The Football Foundation work on a match funding basis and have indicated 
that their most recent projects have been awarded between 50% and 80% of project 
costs, with areas of high deprivation generally receiving a greater proportion of funding 
due to increased outcome delivery.

1.6   Breckland Leisure Limited has presented this proposal to the Equitix board as required 
under the PFI agreement; the board have given their consent to proceed with the project 
and had no objections at this stage.  If the project were to proceed, this would need to be 
formalised.  There is a lifecycle fund of circa £140k within the PFI project for the 
replacement of the playing surface; the possibility of drawing on this fund would be 
explored as part of a feasibility assessment. 

1.7   The next step would be to appoint a consultant to undertake the necessary feasibility work 
and prepare more detailed cost estimates, along with completion of the application to the 
Football Foundation.  The estimated cost for an approved consultant is circa £8 -10k, if 
the project were successful this cost would effectively be reimbursed and absorbed within 
the project costs.   

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 Approve in principle supporting this project and release funding for a consultant to 
undertake the full project feasibility study. 

2.2 Do Nothing.  

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1   The project will provide a high quality sport facility in the district and will improve the 
overall offer of the leisure centre, providing a facility to the community that is not available 
elsewhere in the town.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1  The existing sand dressed astroturf pitch was installed at the commencement of the PFI 
project and is due for replacement within the next 18 months.  The PFI contract only 
specifies a like for like replacement; this project would enable the delivery of a superior 
playing surface.     
  

4.2   The forecast increased usage levels indicate there would be a greater use of this part of 
the facility (please refer to Appendix B).  The centre will be able to provide training nights 
to a number of local teams, as well as hosting football leagues and can provide 5 a side 
pitches, through to full 11 a side competitive matches.  During the winter months, local 
matches are frequently postponed as grass pitches become unsafe to play upon.     

4.3   Provision of a top quality playing surface and enhancement of the existing leisure offer at 
the centre, with the potential to increase footfall across the centre, ensuring the centre 
remains competitive in the market place with the provision of facilities not available 
elsewhere in the town and surrounding area.    

12



4.4   Initiatives will be delivered to encourage participation from areas of deprivation and under-
represented groups.  

4.5   The specification of fencing and security at Football Foundation facilities is greater than 
the existing specification; this along with the projected increased usage figures could help 
reduce instances of anti-social behaviour at the facility. 

4.6   The installation of more modern flood lighting facilities could help to reduce operating 
costs and provide improved playing conditions.   

4.7   Maintenance equipment is provided as part of the project.  This could reduce existing 
maintenance costs which are carried out by external contractors; it could be more cost 
effective to train Parkwood Leisure staff to carry out this maintenance.    
 

4.8   3G AGP playing surfaces can be suitable for other sports, such as rugby and american 
football.  Potential interest in the use of the facility with local teams would be assessed 
during the feasibility study.   

4.9   Additional activities can be catered for such as football parties and walking football.  
Professional clubs in the region are expected to be interested in further developing 
training sessions for their junior academy programmes at the centre due to the improved 
surface.  
  

4.10  There are a large number of local affiliated football clubs and teams that would benefit from 
the facility.  The club and team numbers as of 2017/18 season: 

 Thetford Bulldogs - 15 
 Thetford Town - 8 
 Thetford Rovers - 3
 Thetford Independents - 8
 Mundford  - 7 
 Mundford Exiles - 8 
 AFC Weeting – 1

5.0  THE FOOTBALL FOUNDATION TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

5.1  Income from all bookings can be retained by the operator of funded projects; the Football 
Foundation stipulates that a sinking fund must be in existence to ensure that the playing 
surface can be replaced as required.   

5.2 An expected annual sinking fund contribution for a full sized 3G AGP would be £25k per 
year

5.3 Pricing structures are in place to ensure that the facility remains accessible to all groups.  
Based on discussions with Parkwood Leisure and Norfolk FA the anticipated pricing range 
is in line with the existing charges for hire of the pitch.

5.4 Priority allocation of pitch time on the AGP should be given to grassroots football clubs and 
community groups 

5.5 Terms & Conditions of the grant are valid for a period of 21 years from the date of 
acceptance of the grant

13



5.6 Funding provided by the Football Foundation is a grant, not a loan

5.7 The works to construct the new 3G AGP will be procured through the FA’s AGP 
Procurement Framework

5.8 The Project and the Facilities shall be closely monitored by the Football Foundation 
throughout the grant’s contract (21 years) to ensure that the aims and objectives specified 
in the Application, Football Development Plan, Business Plan and Project Specification are 
being met, that the Grant Agreement is adhered to and that the Project and the Facilities 
represent good value for money.

5.9 The receiving organisation would be responsible for reporting the projects performance in 
accordance with the Football Foundation’s Monitoring & Evaluation process

6.0 IMPLICATIONS

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality & 
Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management; 
Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Transformation Programme; 
Other. Where the report author considers that there may be implications under one or more 
of these headings, these are identified below.

6.1 Corporate Priorities

6.1.1 The aims of this project align closely with the Council’s corporate priorities, namely to    
“support groups and organisations to provide a range of local facilities within their 
communities which further improve learning opportunities, community health and 
community wellbeing”.  

6.2 Financial 

6.2.1 Please refer to the Pro Forma B (Appendix A).  

6.3  Risk Management 

6.3.1 3G AGP playing surfaces are not suitable for all types of sport, this could mean that certain 
scheduled activities may be affected by changing the playing surface.     

7.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

7.1 Thetford Boudica

7.2 Thetford Burrell 

7.3 Thetford Castle 

7.4 Thetford Priory  

14



8.0 ACRONYMS 

8.1 AGP - Artificial Grass Pitch

8.2 LFFP – Local Football Facilities Plan

8.3 MUGA – Multi Use Games Area   

Background papers:- None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Chris Brooks, Contract Monitoring Officer
Telephone Number: 01362 656285
Email: chris.brooks@breckland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No 

Exempt Decision: No

This report refers to a Discretionary Service

Appendices attached to this report: 

Appendix A Pro Forma B 
Appendix B Existing Facility Usage and Forecast Facility Usage 

15



PROFORMA B 

This appraisal is valid for 1 month from issue date 
If there are changes to the original report it may invalidate this document & must be reviewed by Finance. 

 
16/07/2018 

 
Page 1 of 2 

H:\Norfolk FA Project\2018 07 13 Norfolk Football 
Foundation.doc 

 

BRECKLAND COUNCIL FINANCIAL COMMENTS & APPRAISAL 
 

THIS DOCUMENT PROVIDES THE FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 IN RESPECT OF THE ATTACHED REPORT 

     
FROM:  Margaret Bailey (Senior Accountant) 
REPORT: Redevelopment of MUGA  
REPORT DATE: 13 July 2018 
 
 £ Year 1 £ Year 2 £ Year 3 £ Year 4 
 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 

Revenue     
Income     

     
     
Costs     
Consultant fees 10,000 - - - 

Total Revenue - - - - 

     
Capital     
Income     
N/A (-) (-) (-) (-) 
Costs     
N/A - - - - 

Total Capital - - - - 

Considered By: Cabinet 
Date: Sept 2018 
Financial Services Comments 
The report requests up to £10,000 to prepare detailed cost estimates and submit an application 
to the football foundation for the redevelopment of the MUGA at the Breckland Leisure Centre 
and Waterworld.  Initial costings are around £650k.  The consultant would undertake more 
detailed costings and liaise with the Football Foundation to submit the application (subject to 
Council approval) and work with Parkwood Leisure to determine whether the indicative lifecycle 
contribution of £140,000 can be used for this project. 
  
IF successful this work would take place in 2019/20.  It is not clear if the Council would be the 
recipient of the funding or Parkwood.  If it is the Council, a report to Council would be required 
to accept the grant and spend it and approve the Council’s contribution to the project (if any).     
 
There is no budget allocated for this project but based on the cost estimates in the attached 
report the Council could be asked to make a contribution of between zero and £325,000 
depending on the value of the grant awarded, the final cost estimates, and whether the lifecycle 
contribution can be secured.  Before a final application is submitted the Council’s contribution 
would need to be confirmed. 
 
The grant application requires a sinking fund of 25k per annum to be available for maintenance 
of the site.  This would be the responsibility of Parkwood.  This and other terms and conditions 
such as ongoing grant reporting would need to be firmed up as part of any 
agreement/acceptance of grant.   
 
If approved this funding could come from the Community reserve and any costs would be 
reimbursed IF the project proceeds (hence a contribution from Parkwood has not been sought).  
The Community reserve has £1.621m available as at 30/6/2018 and this project meets the 
criteria by “Delivering a positive activity that brings benefit to the community” 
 

16



PROFORMA B 

This appraisal is valid for 1 month from issue date 
If there are changes to the original report it may invalidate this document & must be reviewed by Finance. 

 
16/07/2018 

 
Page 2 of 2 

H:\Norfolk FA Project\2018 07 13 Norfolk Football 
Foundation.doc 

 

 
 
Financial Risk 
The application for redevelopment of the MUGA may not be successful 
The Lifecycle payment may not be approved to be used for this project and the Council’s 
contribution may be significant 
 

17



CURRENT USAGE AT THE CENTRE

August (Summer) 2018  'typical week'

Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday Saturday Sunday Total

Hours Available 9am -10pm 9am -10pm 9am -10pm 9am -10pm 9am -10pm 9am -5pm 9am -5pm

Sport Total Hours 13 13 13 13 13 8 8 81

Football Club Hire 0

Football Casual Hire 2 1 3

Football League Hire 2 2 4

Football Other 0

Hockey Club Hire 0

Total Hire 2 0 0 4 1 0 0 7

Hire v Availabilty % 15% 0% 0% 31% 8% 0% 0% 9%

Based on M-F 17:00 - 

22:00 (5 hours) & 

Sat + Sun 9:00-

17:00 (8 hours) : 

weekly total 41 40% 0% 0% 80% 20% 0% 0% 17%

February 2018 'typical week'

Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday Saturday Sunday Total

Hours Available 9am -10pm 9am -10pm 9am -10pm 9am -10pm 9am -10pm 9am -5pm 9am -5pm

Sport Total Hours 13 13 13 13 13 8 8 81

Football Club Hire 2 1.5 3 6.5

Football Casual Hire 1 2 1 4

Football League Hire 2 2 4

Football Other 0

Hockey Club Hire 1 1.5 1.5 4

Total Hire 4 0 3.5 4 4 1.5 1.5 18.5

Hire v Availabilty % 31% 0% 27% 31% 31% 19% 19% 23%

Based on M-F 17:00 - 

22:00 (5 hours) & 

Sat + Sun 9:00-

17:00 (8 hours) : 

weekly total 41 

hours 80% 0% 70% 80% 80% 19% 19% 45%

nb.  further casual / ad hoc team bookings may take place depending on weather and also some seasonal fixtures - figures presented are a typical snapshot

18



NEW 3G ESTIMATES 

August (Summer)   'typical week'

Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday Saturday Sunday Total

Hours Available 9am -10pm 9am -10pm 9am -10pm 9am -10pm 9am -10pm 9am -5pm 9am -5pm

Sport Total Hours 13 13 13 13 13 8 8 81

Football Club Hire 2 2 1 3 3 11

Football Casual Hire 2 1 3

Football League Hire 2 2 4

Football Other 1 1 2

Hockey Club Hire 0

Total Hire 3 3 2 5 1 3 3 20

Hire v Availabilty % 23% 23% 15% 38% 8% 38% 38% 25%

Based on M-F 17:00 - 

22:00 (5 hours) & 

Sat + Sun 9:00-

17:00 (8 hours) : 

weekly total 41 

hours 60% 60% 40% 100% 20% 38% 38% 49%

New 3G estimates February 'typical week'

Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday Saturday Sunday Total

Hours Available 9am -10pm 9am -10pm 9am -10pm 9am -10pm 9am -10pm 9am -5pm 9am -5pm

Sport Total Hours 13 13 13 13 13 8 8 81

Football Club Hire 1 4 3 3 2 5 3 21

Football Casual Hire 1 1 1 3

Football League Hire 2 2 4

Football Other 2 1 1 1 5

Hockey Club Hire 0

Total Hire 5 6 4 6 4 5 3 33

Hire v Availabilty % 38% 46% 31% 46% 31% 63% 38% 41%

Based on M-F 17:00 - 

22:00 (5 hours) & 

Sat + Sun 9:00-

17:00 (8 hours) : 

weekly total 41 

hours 100% 120% 80% 120% 80% 63% 38% 80%

Figures based on FA input re development of programme, incl accommodation of leagues

nb.  further casual / ad hoc team bookings may take place depending on weather and also some seasonal fixtures - figures presented are a typical snapshot

19



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Paul Claussen, Executive Member Place  

To: Cabinet, 4 September 2018

Author: Christine Marshall, Executive Director Commercialisation

Subject: Review of the Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme (LCTRS) for 2019-20

Purpose: To consider options for the Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme (LCTRS) 
for 2019-20

Recommendation(s): 

1) That the Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme (LCTRS) for 2019-20 remains unchanged 
from the current scheme.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 Each year the Council is required to review its Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme 
(LCTRS).  This report advises Cabinet about the officer conclusion of the 2018 annual 
review.

1.2   The current Breckland LCTRS scheme provides a maximum benefit of 91.5% discount for 
working age claimants and our scheme also protects War Pensioners.  The aim in 
designing the scheme was to achieve a balance in charging an amount of Council Tax to 
encourage customers back into work whilst setting the amount charged at an affordable 
and recoverable level.  By setting the amount payable at 8.5% of the charge, in most 
cases, where a customer is not paying, we can affect recovery through attachment to 
benefit within a year and so the charge with costs is recoverable.  If the amount payable 
was set higher, then it is possible the debt would not be recoverable and possibly create a 
culture of non-payment of Council Tax.

1.3   Cabinet in November 2017 and Full Council in December 2017 approved some changes 
to the LCTRS scheme, such as uprating benefit rates used under LCTRS to align with 
Housing Benefit and the Prescribed scheme for Pensioners, full details can be found in 
the minutes at http://apps03:9070/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=117&MId=4051&Ver=4

1.4   Councils are required to review their LCTRS schemes annually.  Where it is determined to 
retain the existing scheme this must be decided by 11 March of the preceding year.  
Where Councils seek to amend their scheme it will be necessary to consult preceptors 
and stakeholders prior to a consultation to inform a final scheme design by 28 February of 
the preceding year.  Therefore work on any amendments would need to start around 
summer time each year to allow sufficient time to consult, approve and implement 
changes prior to 28 February.

1.5   Increasing the contribution rate to more than 8.5% - the possible increase in Council Tax 
collected for the Council - is considered to be less than the additional costs of recovery 
(additional staff, postage and enquires to customer services), including the inability to 
recover the debt in year by deduction from DWP benefits and therefore this is not 
recommended.

20

Agenda Item 9

http://apps03:9070/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=117&MId=4051&Ver=4


1.6   The existing scheme has provision to incorporate DWP welfare reforms and to uprate 
allowances etc in line with DWP so as to achieve harmonisation with the prescribed 
national LCTRS scheme for Pensioners as well as HB.  We have reviewed the existing 
scheme and are recommending that it does not change for 2019-20.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 That the Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme (LCTRS) for 2019-20 remains unchanged 
from the current scheme.

2.2 Do nothing.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 The changes made to the current scheme have worked well – harmonising to DWP 
welfare reforms and uprating, as well as removing the stipulation that customers must 
make a separate claim for Council Tax Support when claiming Universal Credit, thereby 
making the scheme combatable with the introduction and planned expansion of Universal 
Credit.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 Continuing with the existing scheme enables compliance with DWP benefits and the 
introduction and planned expansion of Universal Credit.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality & 
Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management; 
Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Transformation Programme; 
Other. Where the report author considers that there may be implications under one or more 
of these headings, these are identified below.

5.12 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales
5.12.1 Consultation is not required if the scheme does not change for 2019-20.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 All.

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 DWP – Department for Work & Pensions
7.2 HB – Housing Benefit
7.3 LCTRS – Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme

Background papers:- See The Committee Report Guide for guidance on how to complete 
this section

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Adrian Mills, Benefits Strategic Manager ARP

21

file:///G:/Committee/Committee/Report%20Guide/2014/THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc
file:///G:/Committee/Committee/Report%20Guide/2014/THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc


Telephone Number: 01842 756491
Email: Adrian.mills@angliarevenues.gov.uk

Key Decision: No

Exempt Decision: No 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service

Appendices attached to this report: None

22



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
Report of: Cllr Gordon Bambridge - Executive Member for Growth 
 
To: Cabinet – 4th September 2018 
 
Author: Jemma March - Principal Planning Policy Officer/Team Leader (Capita) 
 
Subject: Breckland Local Development Scheme 
 
Purpose: The purpose of this report is to update the Local Development Scheme 
 
 
Recommendation(s): It is recommended that Members endorse option 1 and the Local 
Development Scheme is published. 
 
 
1.0 BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 Local Authorities are required to prepare a Local Development Scheme (LDS) through 

section 15 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended by the 
Localism Act 2011). A Local Development Scheme is the Council’s public-facing timetable 
against which Local Development Documents (in this case the Local Plan) are prepared. 
The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act sets out the requirements for the LDS that 
they must specify: 
 

• The documents which are to be local development documents 
• The subject matter and geographical area to which each document relates 
• The timetable for the preparation and revision of the documents 

 
1.2 The proposed LDS can be seen at appendix A of this document. This is the Council’s ninth 

revision to the LDS since they were introduced in 2004, noting that the first iterations 
covered the previous Local Development Framework. Local Authorities are also required to 
monitor the progress of preparation of the Local Plan.  
 

1.3 In the current (eighth revision) of the LDS, the production timeline for the Local Plan is no 
longer in date as the programme shows additional hearing sessions would be held in July 
and a consultation held on modifications to the plan in August and September 2018. This 
was an accurate prediction of the timescale at the time the eighth revision was produced 
based on the scheduled hearing sessions and timescale for homework. However, the scale 
of additional work requested by the Inspector during the scheduled hearing sessions has 
resulted in a delay to the timeline as this additional material is subject to consultation and 
examination at further hearing sessions scheduled for 18th – 20th September (reserve 
session 21st Sept). The proposed adoption date is not considered to be achievable, and 
therefore a revision to the LDS is required to ensure that production of the plan is found to 
be in compliance with the Councils LDS.  
 

1.4 The unpredictable nature of the examination, in terms of the outcome of hearing sessions 
and potential for further work was highlighted as a risk to delay in the eighth revision of the 
LDS in May. This was communicated to members at the Cabinet meeting held 1st May 
2018.  
 

1.5 The Inspector Jonathan Manning BSc (Hons) MA MRTPI conducting the independent 
Examination of the Local Plan has requested that the Council supply a revised LDS which 
documents the actual date of submission and a more realistic timeframe for subsequent 

23

Agenda Item 10



stages and adoption. Therefore, the latest LDS has been revised to reflect the current 
position of the Local Plan, and ensure that the Local Plan is legally compliant for the 
purpose of the Local Plan Examination.  
 
Proposed Local Plan Timetable 

1.6 Significant progress has already been made on the preparation of the Local Plan, including 
three rounds of public consultation (made under Regulation 18), the third of which closed in 
October 2016. The milestones for the Local Plan as set out within the LDS, are as follows: 
 

• Submission to the Planning Inspectorate: November 2017 
• Examination in Public: April, May and June 2018 
• Further hearing sessions: Sept 2018 
• Post hearing consultation: November - December 2018 
• Inspectors Report: February 2019 
• Adoption: March 2019 

 
1.7 Following the submission of the document to the Planning Inspectorate, the timetable for 

the examination post submission is determined by them. Performance on the delivery of 
local development documents against the LDS will be kept under review through the 
Council’s Annual Monitoring Report.  
 
Reasons for Changes to the timeline 

1.8 The timeline for the remaining stages of the production of the Local Plan represents an 
estimation based on available information at the time and consideration of the standardised 
timetable produced by the Planning Advisory Service. This is always a difficult timeline to 
predict as once the plan has been submitted the commencement of hearing sessions is 
dependant on the availability of the externally appointed Inspector. It is also difficult to 
assess the outcome of hearing sessions, which in some cases  
 

1.9 The hearing sessions were programmed to begin 17th April 2018 and conclude on 8th June 
2018. These sessions were held according to schedule and covered the Matters, Issues 
and Questions identified by the Inspector. As a result of the discussion during the hearing 
session, there were a number of subject areas where the Inspector considered more 
detailed information or revisions to policies were required in order to conclude on those 
particular matters and issues. In some cases further information was required which has 
been submitted in the form of topic papers, in other cases, modifications to policies was 
requested in order for the plan to be found sound. The Council submitted the additional 
documents requested on an agreed deadline on 29th June 2018. The Inspector requires for 
this additional material to be subject to consultation with participants in the Examination, 
and will supply additional questions to inform discussion at further hearing sessions which 
are scheduled for September 2018.   
 

1.10 Therefore, the updated timetable set out in this report represents the most reasonable 
estimate of the remaining stages of examination and adoption of the plan, subject to no 
additional delay as a result of issues raised during the extra examination hearing sessions. 
Whilst there is always a risk that the LDS may have to be revisited during the examination 
period, the risk is thought to be minimal at this stage as the Inspector has had the 
opportunity to examine in public all Matters and Issues that he originally identified in his 
statement in March 2018, and the additional week of hearing sessions in September is due 
to conclude Matters for which he required further information.   
 
Summary of changes 

1.11 The key changes to the LDS in the ninth revision are as follows: 
• Revision to Figure 1 – Schedule of Proposed Documents to reflect accurate 

24



submission date and a realistic timeline of the remaining stages of the Local Plan 
examination. 

• Update to the supporting text to reflect the revised timetable.  
• Change to key date of adoption estimated at March 2019. 

 
 
 
2.0 OPTIONS 
 
2.1 There are three options available to Members: 

• Option 1: Members resolve to agree the revised LDS (as appendix A) and give it 
effect from September 2018. 

• Option 2: Members resolve to agree the revised LDS (as appendix A) subject to any 
amendments of the Cabinet and give it effect from September 2018. 

• Option 3: Members do not resolve to agree the revised LDS. 
 
 
3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 
3.1 Members are recommended to resolve to approve option 1. Endorsing option 1 will satisfy 

the Inspector conducting the Local Plan examination that the Local Plan meets the legal 
requirements under the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act (2004) S.19 (1) which 
states that Local Development Documents must be prepared in accordance with the Local 
Development Scheme.  
 

3.2 Should Members resolve to endorse Option 3, there is a risk that the Inspector will 
determine the Breckland Local Plan does not meet the legal requirements of the Planning 
and Compulsory Purchase Act (2004) and therefore the Local Plan cannot be 
recommended for adoption by the Council. Non adoption of the Local Plan would result in a 
lack of up to date local planning policies, a lack of a 5 year land supply of housing sites and 
a financial loss in resourcing the plan over the previous 5 years.  

 
4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS 
 
4.1 The expected benefit of ratifying the recommended approach is that it will satisfy the 

Inspectors direct request for a revised LDS to aid the examination of the Breckland Local 
Plan. It also sets out a clear and accurate timetable for the remaining stages of the 
examination and adoption of the Local Plan and meets the requirements of Section 15(2) 
and 19(1) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act (2004). 

 
5.0 IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues 
 
5.1.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications. 
 
5.2 Constitution & Legal 
 
5.2.1  It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications. 
 
5.3 Contracts 
 
5.3.1  It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications. 
 
5.4 Corporate Priorities 

25



 
5.4.1 The LDS sets the time line for the production of the Local Plan. The Local Plan aligns with 

the following corporate priorities: Supporting Breckland to develop and thrive; providing the 
right services at the right time and in the right way; developing the local economy to be 
vibrant with continued growth and enabling stronger, more independent communities. The 
production also aligns with the priority of enabling effective planning and delivery of housing 
solutions to meet local needs. 

 
5.5 Crime and Disorder  
 
5.5.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications 
 
5.6 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights 
 
5.6.1  It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications. 
 
5.7 Financial  
 
5.7.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications. 
 
5.8 Health & Wellbeing 
 
5.8.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications. 
 
5.9 Risk Management  
 
5.9.1 The LDS identifies a number of risks to the delivery of the Local Plan, which are set out 

within appendix A. This includes changes to national planning policy, staff resources and 
the outcome of further hearing sessions. 

 
5.10 Safeguarding 
 
5.10.1  It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications. 
 
5.11 Staffing 
 
5.11.1  It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications. 
  
5.12 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales 
 
5.12.1 The LDS sets out the timeline for the remaining stages of examination and adoption of the 
Local Plan. The timetable does set an anticipated timescale for consultation on main modifications 
to the Local Plan. 
 
6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED 
 
6.1 The LDS sets out the timescale for the preparation and adoption of the Local Plan. All 

wards in Breckland are affected by the Local Plan. 
 
7.0 ACRONYMS  
 
7.1 LDS: Local Development Scheme 
 

Background papers:- See The Committee Report Guide 

26

file://BCF01/Democratic%20Services/Committee/Committee/Report%20Guide/2014/THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc


 
Lead Contact Officer 
Name and Post:  Jemma March,  Planning Policy Team Leader 
Telephone Number: 01362 656239 
Email: jemma.march@capita.co.uk 
 
Key Decision:  Yes 
 
Exempt Decision: Yes 
 
This report refers to a Mandatory Service  
 
Appendices attached to this report:  
 
Appendix A :  Breckland Local Plan Local Development Scheme 

 

27



 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
Breckland Local Plan 

Local Development Scheme 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ninth Revision (September 2018)  

28



1. Introduction 
 
Background 
 
1.1 The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act (2004) (as amended by the Localism Act 
2011) requires local authorities to produce a Local Development Scheme setting out the 
range of planning policy documents to guide future development and changes. The suite of 
documents was previously referred to as the Local Development Framework (LDF), although 
the term has now been replaced by the more straightforward “Local Plan” by the 
Government in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and national Planning 
Practice Guidance (PPG), Councils still need to produce a Local Development Scheme 
(LDS) to reflect the latest position on the intended programme and timetable for producing 
the Local Plan and other relevant Local Development Documents. 
 
 
Local Development Documents 
 
1.2 Prior to the Localism Act (2011), Councils were encouraged to produce a range of plans 
covering strategic and more detailed planning policies, including site allocations. The 
Government have signalled through the NPPF and national PPG the preference for a single 
Local Plan to be produced by each local planning authority for their area. Section 3 provides 
further detail on the current suite of plans produced under the LDF system by the Council. 
 
1.3 In Breckland, the Council is now working on a single Local Plan to replace the suite of 
plans produced as part of the Local Development Framework process. Councils can also 
produce Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) for topics/areas which require 
additional guidance to policies set out in the Local Plan. However, the NPPF states that 
“supplementary planning documents should be used where they can help applicants make 
successful applications or aid infrastructure delivery, and should not be used to add 
unnecessarily to the financial burdens of development.”  The Council also prepares two 
additional documents: a Statement of Community Involvement detailing how people will be 
involved in the planning system; and a Monitoring Report that considers how effectively the 
Local Plan policies are being implemented. 
 
1.4 The Localism Act (2011) provides the opportunity for communities to prepare 
Neighbourhood Plans to guide further development that they may wish to see in their 
communities. Neighbourhood Plans, once adopted, form part of the Development Plan for 
the area and are used in the determination of Planning Applications. Neighbourhood Plans1 
are prepared by Town and Parish Councils to address key local priorities. Their key 
milestones are specific to each document. The regulations do not require neighbourhood 
plans to be included within the LDS. 
 

What is a Local Development Scheme (LDS)? 
 
1.5 The Local Development Scheme (LDS) is a programme for the production of the Local 
Plan and any associated documents that Breckland Council intend to produce over the next 
three years.  This is the Council’s ninth revision to its LDS and updates the previously 
adopted LDS (July 2017). This LDS takes into account the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) (March 2012); The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) 
(England) (Amendment) Regulations 2012; and the Planning Practice Guidance and 

                                                      
1 The latest position on neighbourhood plans within Breckland can be found here: 
http://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/2213/Neighbourhood-Plans  

29

http://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/2213/Neighbourhood-Plans


attendant policy and ministerial statements that are relevant to the production of the Local 
Plan. 
 
Key Issues in the Ninth Revision of the LDS 
 
1.6 The eighth revision of the LDS was completed in May 2018 and presented an accurate 
representation of the stages of production of the Local Plan, based on the timetable for the 
Examination including scheduled hearing sessions at that time. The Inspector Jonathan 
Manning BSc (Hons) MA MRTPI conducting the independent Examination of the Local Plan 
requested that the Council supply a revised LDS which accurately reflects the timeline of the 
Local Plan.  
 
1.7 It was requested that the LDS be supplied to the Inspector at the close of the scheduled 
hearing sessions with all other requested additional information and proposed modifications. 
Due to the quantity of additional information including separate topic papers requested 
during the hearing sessions, the deadline for submission for these items was extended at the 
request of the Council to 29th June 2018. The Inspector requested that additional material is 
subject to consultation and will be reconsidered at extra hearing sessions scheduled for 18th 
– 20th September (reserve session 21st September).  
 
Making Your Views Known 
 
1.8 The Council is required by the regulations to make the LDS available to the public. 
Copies are available for inspection at the Council’s offices in Dereham and Thetford, as well 
as Customer Contact Centres in Dereham, Thetford, Attleborough, Swaffham and Watton. 
The LDS is also available to view on the Planning Policy pages of the Council’s website 
[www.breckland.gov.uk]. 
 
2. Local Plan Structure and Schedule of Proposed Documents 
 
Local Plan Structure 
 
2.1 Under the planning system Breckland Council will be responsible for delivering the new 
district-wide Local Plan. Norfolk County Council will retain the duty of preparing a Minerals 
and Waste Local Plan, as well as being the highway and education authority. 
 
2.2 The production of the Local Plan will follow the full statutory processes including the 
preparation of a Sustainability Appraisal, public participation and other regulatory 
requirements. The Local Plan will be subject to Examination by an independent Inspector if 
formal objections are received during the public consultation period. Objectors, who wish to, 
can have their objections heard orally at any hearing stages held during the Examination. 
 
2.3 The Council must keep this LDS under review in the light of any further changes. Once 
adopted, the LDS will be monitored on an annual basis. As part of the Monitoring Report the 
Council will set out: 
 

• How well the Council is performing against the key milestones set out in the LDS; 
• How the policies in the Local Plan are being implemented; 
• The latest up-to-date list of background documents; 
• The status of the old planning policy framework and how this has been affected by 

the production of the Local Plan; 
• Whether the Local Plan or aspects of the plan need reviewing in advance of their 

scheduled time target; 
• Any updates to the LDS as required. 

30



 
Schedule of Proposed Documents 
 
2.4 The documents that Breckland Council proposes to prepare are as follows: 
 

• Local Plan (district wide) 
• Policies Map 
• Monitoring Report 

 
Progress on the preparation of the Local Plan 
 
2.5 The Council has made significant progress on the Local Plan to date, since the decision 
was taken in 2013 to commence the preparation of a single Local Plan. The following key 
milestones having already occurred: 
 

• Issues and Options Consultation (regulation18) – November 2014 to January 2015 
• Preferred Directions Consultation (regulation 18) – January to February 2016 
• Pre-Submission Publication (Regulation 19) – August 2017 to September 2017 
• Submission (Regulation 22) – November 2017 
• Examination in Public – April – June 2018 

 
2.6 Figure 1 sets out the timetable for the preparation of the Local Plan. .  
 
 

 

31



 
 
Figure 1 – Schedule of Proposed Documents 
 

  
Local Development 
Document 

  
  
  

 2017  2018   
  
  

2019 Comments 

Au
gu

st
 

Se
pt

em
be

r 

O
ct

ob
er

 

N
ov

em
be

r 

De
ce

m
be

r 
 

Ja
nu

ar
y 

Fe
br

ua
ry

 

M
ar

ch
 

Ap
ril

 

M
ay

 

Ju
ne

 

Ju
ly

 

Au
gu

st
 

Se
pt

em
be

r 

O
ct

ob
er

 

N
ov

em
be

r 

De
ce

m
be

r 

 

Ja
nu

ar
y 

Fe
br

ua
ry

 

M
ar

ch
 

 

LDF (Core Strategy 
and Development 
Control Policies, Dec 
09; Site Specifics, 
Jan 2012; Thetford 
Area Action Plan, 
July 2012) 

 

          

   

 

     

 

   All documents will be replaced 
by the Local Plan once 
adopted (n.b non-superseded 
policies will remain extant) 

                          

Local Plan   P P 
 

 S 
 

   

   

     M M   

 

R 

 It is expected that once this 
document is adopted it will be 
reviewed on a 3-5 year cycle 

                          

Policies Maps   

 

      
 

   

   

 

     

   

   To be updated on adoption of 
the Local Plan 

 
Key Milestones 
  Preparation of the document 

 * 
Public participation in the preparation of the Local 
Plan (Regulation 18) 

P Publication of the Local Plan (Regulation 19) 
S Submission of the Local Plan (Regulation 22) 
M Post Hearing Consultation (Modifications) 
E Examination in Public 
R Inspectors Report 
A Adoption 
U Update Policies Maps 

 

Summary of revised changes to the Local Development Scheme 

• In accordance with section 15 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase act (as amended), this LDS has updated the 
previous timeline (May 18) as milestones were out of date. 

32



        
 
Other Planning Policy Documents that Breckland Council will publish 
 
2.7 The Local Plan will establish the Council’s planning policies, which should be backed up 
by robust evidence base. This work will be published in the form of technical studies and 
papers and they will be produced either by the Council or independent consultancy bodies. 
 
2.8 Each background document will be publicly available at the same time as the relevant 
stage of the Local Plan to which it relates, is submitted. It is not possible at this time to 
predict every background document that will be produced as the Council may need to 
prepare additional evidence in the course of preparing the Local Plan or to respond to 
changes in National Planning Policy. Consideration will be given on an annual basis as to 
the need for their review. 
 
2.9 The Council has previously undertaken work on a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
for the District. Work was halted in July 2014 and a watching brief kept on amendments to 
the CIL process. 
 
Design Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
 
2.10 The Council is committed to producing a SPD on design. The document will guide the 
design of development in Breckland and aid the implementation of allocated sites in the 
Local Plan. The timetable for the production of the SPD is contingent on the progress of the 
remaining stages of the Local Plan, but it is anticipated that preparatory work on the SPD will 
begin after the Examination of the Local Plan.  
 
3. Transitional Arrangements 
 
3.1 The current documents that make up the Local Plan provide the planning policy 
framework for Breckland at the local level. In due course they will be replaced by the 
emerging single Local Plan. The new Local Plan will also include a list of all policies that are 
superseded and those that are not superseded. Until that time, the existing statutory 
planning policy framework includes: 
 
• National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)  
• Norfolk Minerals and Waste Development Management Polices (2011) 
• Norfolk Minerals Site Specific Allocations DPD (2013) 
• Norfolk Waste Site Specific Allocations DPD (2013) 
• Core Strategy and Development Control Policies DPD (2009) 
• Site Specific Policies and Proposals DPD (2012) 
• Thetford Area Action Plan (2012) 
• Saved Policies of the Breckland District Local Plan 1999 
 
 
3.2 The Council’s suite of documents within the Local Plan remains adopted until they are 
replaced by the emerging single Local Plan. There are four policies from the previous plan 
(1999) that remain saved by virtue of their inclusion within the adopted Core Strategy DPD, 
Site Specific Policies and Proposals DPD and the Thetford Area Action Plan DPD. The 
Thetford Area Action Plan was adopted post adoption of the NPPF and as such, is fully in 
conformity with this document and benefits from full weight in the planning process. The 
Core Strategy and Site Specific Policies and Proposals DPDs were adopted prior to the 
publication of the NPPF and as such policies within them are afforded due weight depending 
on their level of conformity (NPPF Annex 1: Implementations).  

33



 
4. Resources 
 
4.1 The preparation of the Local Plan is overseen by a working group of the Council’s 
Cabinet. This will report to Cabinet and then to the full Council as appropriate. The working 
group, which meets in public, considered drafts of documents and made recommendations. 
Revised drafts of any document are agreed for consultation through the Council’s Cabinet 
and through meetings of The Council. 
 
4.2 On 30th June 2009 Breckland Council transferred its planning service to Capita as a 15 
year contract which will cover both the development management and planning policy 
functions of the Council. Capita is contracted to deliver the Planning Policy services to 
Breckland Council in accordance with milestones agreed with the Council on an annual 
basis, as part of an on-going Contract Review process. Since Breckland’s Planning Policy 
team was transferred to Capita, the Local Planning Authority function now rests with the 
Council’s own Planning Management team. The Strategic Planning Manager also fulfils the 
role of client liaison officer. 
 
4.3 The day-to-day preparation of the Local Plan will be the responsibility of Planning Policy 
Team under Capita Breckland. The team is part of a wider planning office at Breckland and 
within Capita. Breckland Council retains budgetary responsibility for financing the work 
needed to prepare a sound Local Plan. 
 
5. Risks 
 
5.1 Producing a Local Plan document within a set timetable is not without risk. A number of 
risks to delivery against the milestones have been identified and are set out below. As far as 
is practicable these risks have been taken into account in producing the timetable. 
 
1. Staff Resources 
 
5.2 In common with many rural planning authorities, the planning policy team at Breckland is 
relatively small. Staff turnover, the national lack of qualified planners and increasing need for 
staff to specialise all pose medium risks to the timetable if one or more members of the team 
were to leave the team. The loss of staff with significant local knowledge may take time to 
replace. Therefore, staff retention and replacement are priorities for the service and this 
aspect will be managed to ensure that the timetable for the Local Plan is not put at risk. As 
the Council’s planning service is delivered by Capita, there is potential scope to use 
resources elsewhere within the company to minimise this element of risk should it arise. 
 
2. Delay or suspension of the examination dependant on the outcome of hearing 
sessions 
 
5.3 Whilst the Council has submitted a plan which is considers to be sound, it is not 
uncommon for discussion at hearing sessions to trigger requests from the Inspector for 
additional work to be undertaken to support the consideration of issues raised. In most cases 
this can be produced within the programmed timetable which would not affect the timeline 
projected in the LDS. However, this is dependant on the scale and nature of the work 
requested and also the time required to produce it. The Inspector may suggest additional 
time to consider the work produced, if requested, and this may result in the identification of a 
further hearing session/s to ensure the issue is explored in a public forum. A further reserve 
session is programmed, however any additional sessions would be subject to the availability 
of the Inspector, participants and available suitable locations to hold the sessions. 
 

34



3. Changes to national planning policy 
 
5.4 Further changes to National Planning Policy could give rise to a need to review or amend 
the timetable. The previous planning system was amended on several occasions which 
altered the formal stages of document preparation. The current system is less tightly 
regulated than its predecessor and as such should limit the potential for the need for further 
amendment, However recent announcements and ministerial statements indicate that there 
are potential changes envisaged to the planning system and the implications will need to be 
assessed at the appropriate time.  
 
5.5 At this stage in the Examination, the potential risk is relatively small as most matters 
have been examined and only a few key issues require reconsideration. The revised NPPF 
has been published, however a transitional period applies and therefore this should not 
impact adoption of the plan. The Inspector questioned the implications of a recent legal case 
‘People Over Wind’ for which the Council have prepared a response as part of the submitted 
work in June. It is not possible to predict cases which may impact the plan process but the 
risk is considered to be minimal at this stage in the plan process. 
 
 

35



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Portfolio Holder for People and Information   

To: Cabinet - 4 September 2018;
Council – 13 September 2018.

Author: Richard Boole – Shared Environmental Protection Manager.

Subject: Amendment to the Capital Programme.

Purpose: To seek the approval and release of capital & revenue funding and 
consequent amendment of the capital programme.

Recommendation(s): 

1) That Cabinet recommend that funding totalling £71,500 be approved and released from 
reserves and that the 2018/19 capital programme be revised accordingly.

Recommend to FULL COUNCIL: 

2) That the recommendation of Cabinet to approve and release funding from reserves and that 
the capital programme be revised accordingly, be approved.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 The current Public Protection back-office software, that supports the environmental health 
licensing functions and private sector housing functions, is approaching end of contract.  It 
is now necessary to procure replacement software.

1.2   The procurement will be subject to a full tender process and it is anticipated that this will 
open up our business to the wider market and produce a range of software options that 
can be considered on their merits.

1.3 The cost of any new product will be shared across both Councils by way of a recharge to 
BDC for a proportion of both the initial capital and year-on-year revenue costs for the 
duration of the new contract, in line with the current split.

1.4 This report relates to the release of both capital and revenue funding from reserves to 
deliver this project.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 Option1 – That funding be approved and released from reserves to cover the initial 
procurement and implementation of the software and any additional hardware that falls 
outside of the corporate ICT refresh programme at both Councils.

2.2 A Proforma B is attached at Appendix A which details the break-down of costs.  This 
report relates the approval and release of funding from the transformation reserve in 
respect of a BDC capital contribution of £71,500 towards initial purchase and 
implementation.  Annual licence and maintenance revenue costs after year 1 are 
anticipated to be below the current annual revenue budget, with indication of around 
£11,500 savings annually.

36

Agenda Item 11



2.3 Option 2 is to do nothing and let the existing contracts run out.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 To ensure that a new robust and modern software system is in place for the 
environmental health and licensing functions, to ensure that these functions can operate 
efficiently and reliably after the expiry of the existing contracts, making best use of new 
technologies.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1   The intention of the project is to provide a modern, reliable and effective operating system 
that takes account of both routine business and corporate transformation needs.  The new 
generation of systems are built around agile and mobile working, system integration, 
improved workflow and improved customer and business access.  Specifically, a new 
system is intended to provide the following benefits over and above the core database 
functionality:-

 Based on indicative pricing, it might be possible to realise a reduction in overall 
revenue costs by up to £16k per annum overall (split across both Councils), 
based on system licence / maintenance costs alone, depending upon the 
product selected. 

 It is also anticipated that overall savings can be made year on year through 
reduced reliance on ICT infrastructure / officer time, depending upon the 
delivery model offered by the successful supplier.

 Increased support to the commercialisation of services;
 Improved customer and business access to services 24/7, including online 

applications, forms and payments;
 Enhanced digital service delivery to and interaction with customers, increasing 

options to include, for example, automated email and SMS text responses, 
depending on customer preference;

 A greater emphasis on digital processes, supporting making the service 
‘paper-light’, which will also reduce costs associated with printing / paper 
handling / storage;

 Improved process efficiency through enhanced workflow in the back-office 
system;

 Greater support for mobile, flexible and agile working through enhanced 
functionality away from the traditional office base, also contributing to 
improved customer service;

 Supports the 'intelligent council' by enabling us to better capture and retain 
relevant business information for example;

 To better meet new GDPR requirements around the management and 
retention of personal data;

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality & 
Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management; 
Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Transformation Programme; 
Other. Where the report author considers that there may be implications under one or more 
of these headings, these are identified below.

37



5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues 
5.1.1 It is anticipated that the resulting software system will help reduce vehicle use by enabling 

more online accessibility for customers and by enabling mobile and agile working for 
officers, potentially reducing the reliance on daily travel to the office.  Greater digitalisation 
will also support a reduction in printing costs / paper-use.

5.2 Constitution & Legal
5.2.1 The approval and release of new capital funding falling outside of the agreed financial plan, 

is a matter for Full Council.  The procurement is subject to a full OJEU tender process and 
the implementation will be project managed under the auspices of a project board.  The 
project has been brought to the attention of the IT Strategy Board.

5.3 Contracts
5.3.1 Current contracts are due to expire and this procurement would result in one new contract, 

replacing two existing contracts. 

5.4 Corporate Priorities
5.4.1 Through supporting the work of the Environmental Health and Licensing functions, the new 

software system supports to a greater of lesser extent all of the corporate priorities, but 
mostly a) enabling stronger, more independent communities; and b) providing the right 
services at the right time and in the right way.  The system will fully support the Public 
Protection Service's delivery objectives, including commercialisation.  Enhanced 
functionality, mobile working functionality, improved workflow, enhanced customer access 
channels and greater system integration opportunities would all be realised through the 
system, thereby supporting the Service and the Council as a whole, in the areas described.

5.5 Crime and Disorder 
5.5.1 The new software system will support enforcement and regulatory compliance in the 

relevant areas of work, as well as enabling relevant intelligence to be captured and shared 
with other regulators and enforcement agencies, for example HMRC in respect of taxi 
licence-holders.

5.6 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights
5.6.1 This has been considered and it’s the opinion of the report author that there is no 

detrimental effect on any person or group arising from this report.

5.7.1 Financial 
5.7.1 A Proforma B detailing the figures is attached at Appendix A. 

5.8 Health & Wellbeing
5.8.1 The new software system supports functions such as food safety, health and safety and 

environmental protection, all of which has a strong role in protecting human health. 

5.9 Reputation 
5.9.1 Inefficiencies and delays caused by inadequate software can affect the reputation of an 

organisation.  Technology and functionality has moved forwards, customer expectation 
regarding service delivery is evolving and it’s important that the operational systems reflect 
this.

5.10 Risk Management 
5.10.1 Options are listed in section 2.0.  Risks if we don’t go ahead relate to the potential de-

supporting of the existing Civica and Idox products, by the suppliers, in the relatively near 

38



future due to the development of new products, plus the ongoing impact on the business 
due to the lack of functionality and system development to support mobile and agile 
working, customer access and system integration. 

5.11 Safeguarding
5.11.1 The new software system supports the licensing function, which has a strong role around 

safeguarding, especially around taxi drivers, taxi operators, gambling premises and 
personal licence holders.

5.12 Staffing
5.12.1 This report regards the release of funding to procure and implement a replacement IT 

system.  The bid includes the provision of funding to cover additional staffing resources to 
support the project delivery.  Delivery of the project will be governed by a project board 
which will have regard to necessary staffing resources when programming the 
implementation.

5.13 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales
5.13.1 A parallel report will be considered by Full Council at SHDC to secure approval for and 

release of, the initial total capital and year 1 revenue.  That report makes reference to this 
report and the costs that would be recharged to BDC under this proposal. 

5.14 Transformation Programme
5.14.1 This capital funding would support the transformation programme and more detail as to 

where this will be the case is provided within the body of the report.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 The software system to which this bid relates, indirectly benefits the whole of the Council 
area by supporting the environmental health and licensing functions, but doesn’t in itself 
directly impact. 

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 SHDC - South Holland District Council
7.2 BDC - Breckland District Council
7.3 Civica APP – Civica is the supplier; APP = Authority Public Protection (the product)
7.4 Idox LALPAC – Idox is the supplier; LALPAC is the product
7.5 ICT – Information & Communication Technologies
7.6 GDPR – General Data Protection Regulation
7.7 OJEU – Official Journal of the European Union
7.8 HMRC – Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs

Background papers:- None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Richard Boole
Telephone Number: 01775-764667
Email: Richard.boole@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: Yes / No 
Exempt Decision: Yes / No 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service 

39

file:///G:/Committee/Committee/Report%20Guide/2014/THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc


Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix A Proforma B

40



PROFORMA B

This appraisal is valid for 1 month from issue date
If there are changes to the original report it may invalidate this document & must be reviewed by Finance.

21/08/2018 Page 1 of 1
D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\2\3\7\AI00028732\$1b

eopcoc.doc

BRECKLAND COUNCIL FINANCIAL COMMENTS & APPRAISAL

THIS DOCUMENT PROVIDES THE FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
 IN RESPECT OF THE ATTACHED REPORT

FROM: Margaret Bailey
REPORT: Public Protection Software replacement
REPORT DATE: 25-7-2018

£ Year 1 £ Year 2 £ Year 3 £ Year 4
2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22

Revenue
Income
- - - - -
Costs
Licence costs current (Flare)
Licence costs current (Lalpac)
Licence costs new(60% BDC./40%SHDC)

(18,900)
(13,600)

21,000      

(18,900)
(13,600)

21,000

(18,900)
(13,600)

21,000

Total Revenue 0 (11,500) (11,500) (11,500)
Capital
Income
N/A (-) (-) (-) (-)
Costs
New Software
Project mgt/implementation (50% of 
person employed at SHDC)

56,500
7,500 7,500

- -

Total Capital 64,000 7,500 - -
Considered By: Council 13/09/2018

Financial Services Comments
The report requests funding for new Public Protection software.  At the time of writing this 
proforma B costs and savings are indicative because a preferred supplier has not yet been 
selected.  Depending on whether the solution is cloud or server based there may be additional 
costs from ICT for implementation/set up

The start dates is assumed to be 01/04/2019 but if existing contracts are extended or 
implementation delayed the savings shown in the table above may be affected.  Asset 1181 is 
the current shared EH platform and will be disposed of when the new software is operational.  
SHDC would invoice the Council for its share of both the capital and ongoing revenue costs as 
they are the lead for implementation and delivery

There is no provision in the current budget for the capital spend so this would be new spend.
 Financial Risk
The Business Case is based on several assumptions around purchase costs, annual license 
fees and implementation dates.  This could result in additional cost, less ongoing savings 
and a revised timeline.  A more detailed costing exercise will need to be undertaken 
when more information is available and if appropriate an update to this proforma B 
provided.   

The figures contained within this Proforma B are based on the assumption that the Capital costs 
will be split 50/50 and Revenue costs will be split on a 60:40 (BDC/SHDC). The Business case 
does not include additional  ICT charges for Infrastructure but this is dependent open the 
delivery model approved (Cloud or Server based).There may be an overlap while systems 
operate in parallel which would result in additional revenue costs to those shown above

41



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Councillor Phillip Cowen, Executive Member Finance   

To: Cabinet, 4 September 2018

(Author: Christine Marshall, Executive Director Commercialisation)

Subject: Quarter 1 Financial Performance Report 2018-19

Purpose: This report provides information on the forecast full year financial position 
of the Council as at 30 June 2018 and progress to date on the Moving 
Forward transformation programme

Recommendation(s): 

1) That the report and Appendix is noted.

Recommend to FULL COUNCIL: 

2) That £600,000 is allocated within the Growth & Investment Reserve to be used for large 
voids or timing between disposals and acquisitions of commercial properties.

1.1 Throughout the year quarterly monitoring reports are completed forecasting the expected 
year end out-turn against the budgets.  This report provides information on the forecast 
full year financial performance as at 30 June 2018 for revenue, transformation, capital and 
treasury, with the detail being included in the attached Appendix.

1.2 Revenue
The full year impact based on current projections and assumptions is an overall forecast 

of an above budget spend of £908k at the year end, this is made up of:

Service Variances £445k
NNDR & Government grants (£250k)
Moving Forward programme £310k
Commercial Property £403k
Total      £908k

The major variances identified are:
 Reduced building control income of £77k
 Lost income of £74k through the water damage at Swaffham Leisure Centre
 Income lower than forecasts by £54k for development control at this stage of the 

year
 Reduced letting percentage at the Business Centres leading to £46k lost income
 Additional renewable energy NNDR income of £189k
 Efficiencies within services not yet achieved £310k – a section on the moving 

forward programme is included in the attached Appendix.
 £307k of lost income from commercial property through one large vacant unit (if it 

remains vacant all year) and one major tenant.  There are also projected additional 
costs of NNDR for vacant units.

42

Agenda Item 12



Following feedback at Finance Board in August an additional £61k of contracts savings 
are expected in this financial year, which would reduce the over spend to £847k once 
achieved.

1.3 The full year forecast is showing a large over spend currently, although it is likely that the 
value will change as the year progresses and more accurate forecasts are known and 
moving forward efficiencies are achieved.  As a result of this forecast, work has been 
completed or is underway to:

 Review the phase 2 transformation targets with a view to bringing forward if 
appropriate to cover gaps in the current programme.

 Review reserve balances to use one off funding to cover the final over spend at the 
end of the year.

 Preparatory work on the corporate plan and economic vision which will in turn inform a 
revised investment strategy to address the lack of opportunities for purchasing assets 
in area.

 Allocate an initial £600k within reserves to cover the one off impact of lost commercial 
property income through non-standard events such as tenant bankruptcies, the time 
between sale and reinvestment in assets, large voids, etc.

 Review the amounts set aside for feasibility studies in reserves and improve the 
mechanism for release of funding so that future opportunities can be followed up at 
speed in order to help achieve the moving forward targets.

1.4 This report includes a recommendation to Full Council to allocate an initial £600k within 
reserves to protect the Council against the financial risk in future years from large voids and 
the timing differences between sale and reinvestment in assets, however it will not be used 
for smaller voids as these are managed within the Commercial Property portfolio.

1.5 Moving Forward Transformation Programme

This programme has delivered savings of £1,538k (83%) against a target of £1,848k.  The 
programme has been flexed in this year’s budget to reflect the latest positions of project 
time frames and will continue to be adjusted throughout the programme as necessary.  
Overall the programme has achieved efficiencies of £1,799k (68%) by 2020-21 and these 
have already been included in the approved budgets.  The target for the Economic 
Development Service Review of £50k will be removed from the programme as per 
Members requests and this will reduce the efficiencies achieved within the programme.  
Delivery of the remaining efficiencies is monitored through the finance board and following 
the August meeting we are expecting around £61k achievement of contracts savings 
which is not reflected in this report.

1.6 Capital

The forecast out-turn shows spend of £9,046k (100%) against the budget at this early 
stage of the year, with a small overspend which is in the process of being addressed.  
Within this amount is £3,962k of un-released funding, if this is not released in the next few 
months it may be required to be carried forward into next year and this will be addressed 
at budget setting.

1.7 Treasury

The interest income is forecast as £41k above budget for the year as a result of higher 
balances held compared to budget (through reduced capital spend, etc last year).

2.0 OPTIONS

43



2.1 That the report and appendix be noted.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 To provide timely information to Members on the overall financial position of the Council, 
enabling resource re-allocation to priorities where necessary.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 To ensure Members are updated regularly and in a timely fashion on the overall Council 
financial position.

4.2 To make the best use of the funding available to the Council and allow us to respond 
quickly to opportunities as they arise.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality & 
Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management; 
Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Transformation Programme; 
Other. Where the report author considers that there may be implications under one or more 
of these headings, these are identified below.

5.2 Corporate Priorities

5.1.1 The Council’s budget and associated spend supports the Council’s priorities.

5.3 Financial 

5.2.1 The report and appendix are financial in nature and include the financial implications.

5.8 Risk Management 

5.3.1 Risks are included within the report

5.9 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

5.4.1 Budget holders have been consulted on their variances and the reasons for those 
variances.

5.10 Transformation Programme

5.5.1 The transformation programme is intrinsically linked to the Council’s budget and this report 
includes progress on the Moving Forward programme to date.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 N/A

7.0 ACRONYMS 

44



7.1 ARP – Anglia Revenues Partnership
7.2 DWP – Department for Work & Pensions
7.3 GDPR – General Data Protection Regulation
7.4 LIBID - London Inter-Bank Bid Rate.
7.5 NNDR – National Non-Domestic Rates
7.6 PFI – Private Finance Initiative

Background papers:- See The Committee Report Guide for guidance on how to complete 
this section

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Alison Chubbock, Chief Accountant
Telephone Number: 01362 656865
Email: alison.chubbock@breckland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No 

Exempt Decision: No 

This report refers to Mandatory and Discretionary Services

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix A Forecast financial report for 2018-19 full year

45

file:///G:/Committee/Committee/Report%20Guide/2014/THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc
file:///G:/Committee/Committee/Report%20Guide/2014/THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc


Page 1 of 7

Breckland Council
Financial report for the quarter ended 30 June 2018

This report has three sections
o Section 1 – Revenue budget and Moving Forward Transformation Programme
o Section 2 – Capital budget
o Section 3 – Treasury update

Figures in brackets denote either income, an under spend or above budget income.
Positive figures denote either spend, an over spend or below budget income.

Section 1 - Revenue

Table 1 – Forecast Revenue Outturn 

 Budget
Forecast 
Out-turn

Forecast 
Variance

 £'000 £'000 £'000
Cost of Services  
1) Strategy Governance & Transformation 5,054 5,237 183
2) Growth & Commercialisation 704 1,256 552
3) Place 5,740 6,008 268
4) Housing Benefits (127) (143) (16)
5) Total Cost of Services before reserves 11,371 12,358 987

6) Contributions to/from reserves 2,668 2,838 170
7) Total Cost of Services 14,039 15,196 1,157

Funding & Appropriations
8) Appropriations 1,057 868 (189)
9) Government grants (5,442) (5,487) (45)
10) Council Tax (3,786) (3,786) -
11) Retained Business Rates (5,868) (5,883) (15)
12) Total Funding (14,039) (14,288) (249)
 

Contribution (to)/from the General Fund - 908 908

Significant variances are detailed over the page.

Salaries
The budgeted vacancy factor for 2018-19 is 4% for Breckland staff and 2.5% for Anglia Revenues
Partnership (ARP) staff.
The achieved vacancy factor is currently below target, however this is expected at this early stage of
The year and will be monitored as the year progresses.

46



Page 2 of 7

Table 2 - Significant Variances

Cost Centre

Total 
Budget

£

Total 
Variance

£ Comments

1) High Impact

1a) Commercial Property (2,257,903) 402,645

Reduced income from a major tenant and a long term vacant unit has impacted on the income 
expected for the year.  The variance assumes nil income from the long term empty unit, but this 
may improve.  Additional costs of business rates for empty units has also created a variance.

1b) Efficiencies Achieved (309,497) 309,497

Efficiencies achieved to date including the moving forward targets are below budget.  Work has 
started on the majority of projects to deliver the savings, however the areas of concern are raised at 
the Finance Board to ensure we keep on track for the overall savings targets.  It is likely that we will 
need to request use of one off funding in year to cover the shortfall, but future years will be 
addressed during budget setting.

1c) Building Control 214,955 77,231

This is due to below budget income due to bigger development work being undertaken by approved 
inspectors rather than the Council's building control team. The fee work we are undertaking is 
smaller in scale results in less income to the Council.

1d) Breckland Business Centres (359,673) 45,634 Below budget percentage let in Thetford, partially offset by above budget in Dereham.

2) High Opportunity

2a) Appropriations 1,057,386 (189,582)
This variance relates to additional renewable energy business rates income, which has been 
included in future years budgets.  Additional income is also expected from 2019-20 in this area.

3) One Offs

3a) PFI 259,809 73,662

Following the partial opening of Swaffham Leisure Centre (due to water damage) since September 
2017 the Council have been liable (as per the terms of the management agreement with Parkwood 
Leisure) for their loss of income and this will continue through to November 2018.  

3b) Human Resources 402,447 21,947
Over spends in year relate mainly to I-Trent licence costs and additional staff hours implemented 
after the restructure.

3c) Pollution Control 300,616 20,101 Over spend is due to costs awarded following a legal case against the Council.

3d) Retained NNDR (5,867,747) (15,232) Additional retained NNDR income forecast, however this is always at risk form appeals in year.

3e) Government Grants (5,442,083) (44,570) Additional funding received in year above the amounts notified in the Local Government Settlement. 

3f) Land Management 113,975 (28,501) Additional income through granting of easements within the year.

4) Low Impact

4a) Contributions from reserves 2,668,027 170,121
£48k of this variance relates to the additional 20% planning fees income which was not budgeted 
for.  The remainder of the variance is offset by under spends within service areas.

47



Page 3 of 7

Cost Centre

Total 
Budget

£

Total 
Variance

£ Comments

4b) Development Control (153,640) 54,036

The number of applications received by the Council is still high, however, the value of the 
application is less than had been forecast to date, however this could increase as the year 
progresses. 20% of the income received has been contributed to a reserve for future innovation in 
the Planning Service as per Government legislation.

4c) Miscellaneous 9,119,749 32,876 Net effect of other smaller value variances

4d) Insurance account 103,580 28,758
Additional insurance cover for GDPR which was not budgeted for and higher than anticipated costs 
for public liability  and employers liability insurance.

4e) Match funding 150,000 (50,000)
Reduced grant spend to date – this variance is fully offset by an overspend within contributions 
to/from reserves.

5) TOTAL - 908,623

48



Page 4 of 7

Collection Funds
Council Tax
The Council Tax collection fund account has a residual surplus of £965k overall, with Breckland’s 
share being £95k.  The forecast for 2018-19 is currently slightly higher than budget due to increased 
tax base and this will be factored into budget setting for next year. 

Retained Business Rates
The retained Business Rates (NNDR) collection fund account has a residual surplus of £728k overall, 
with Breckland’s share being £291k.  The forecast for 2018-19 is currently a surplus of around £700k 
with Breckland’s share being £280k, which will be incorporated into future years budgets.  NNDR 
income will be affected by any appeals which are made in future years and therefore the current year 
value is likely to change as the year progresses.

Virement Decisions Required
There are no virement decisions required.  

Other Risks
The following areas are financial risks which the Council is facing, but the actual financial implications 
have not yet been fully quantified:

o Moving forward targets not achieved has led to some one off reserve funding required in year 
and the targets will be flexed accordingly in future year’s budgets.

o A major commercial unit remains vacant which impacts income received.
o The garden waste tonnage income is likely to be lower this financial year due to weather 

conditions.
Full risk registers are held within the corporate improvement team.

49



Page 5 of 7

Moving Forward Transformation Programme

The Council’s transformation programme forms an integral part of the Medium Term Financial Plan and once delivered will reduce reliance on central 
government funding by the end of the medium term.  The programme includes a number of different projects within each of the four themes and progress 
against these projects and their related efficiency targets are monitored by the transformation boards.

The programme has delivered most of the 2018-19 efficiencies including service reviews and the enabling projects, however this is dependent on projects 
starting on time and delivering the full efficiency target in year.  The forecast shortfall in achievement of projects for this year is £310k, some of these 
efficiencies are now unlikely to be realised and the Finance Board is reviewing these along with the phase 2 projects to flex the budget for future years.  It 
is however likely that some one-off reserve funding will be required in the current year to cover the shortfall.  
Some projects have overachieved on their targets and others have been slightly delayed, but are due to achieve over the term of the programme and the 
net result is an achievement of £1,799k, 68% of the overall target.  Re-profiling of project start and end dates are made as necessary.   

The table below shows the progress against the programme as at 30 June 2018. 
 Digitalisation Commercialisation Organisational Design Aligning Public Services Other TOTAL
 Target Achieved Balance Target Achieved Balance Target Achieved Balance Target Achieved Balance Target Achieved Balance Target Achieved Balance
Year £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
2018-19 (28) (36) (8) (1,127) (818) 309 (612) (533) 79 (81) (81) 0 0 (70) (70) (1,848) (1,538) 310 
2019-20 (28) (36) (8) (1,363) (868) 495 (937) (771) 166 (81) (81) 0 0 (18) (18) (2,409) (1,774) 635 
2020-21 (28) (36) (8) (1,501) (843) 658 (937) (751) 186 (81) (81) 0 0 (18) (18) (2,547) (1,729) 818 
2021-22 (28) (36) (8) (1,581) (899) 682 (937) (765) 172 (81) (81) 0 0 (18) (18) (2,627) (1,799) 828 

Minimum £36k Minimum £899k Minimum £765k Minimum £81k Minimum £18k Minimum £1,799k 
Target £28k Target £1,581k Target £937k Target £81k Target £0k Target £2,627k 
Maximum £36k Maximum £1,743k Maximum £937k Maximum £81k Maximum £18k Maximum £2,815k 

50



Page 6 of 7

Section 2 - Capital

Table 1 - Progress against 18-19 approved capital programme

 
Budget  

£

Forecast
Out-turn

£

Forecast 
(under)/overspend

£
Commercialisation  
   Property (Land & Buildings) 234,129 266,312 32,183
   Capital grants 2,525,470 2,525,470 -
   Capital loans 483,038 483,038 -
   Not yet released 1,702,360 1,702,360 -
Total Commercialisation 4,944,997 4,977,180 32,183
Strategy & Governance
   ICT & Organisational Change 271,932 271,932 -
   Not yet released - - -
Total Strategy & Governance 271,932 271,932 -
Place
   Property (Land & Buildings) 21,731 21,947 216
   ICT & Organisational Change 41,930 41,930 -
   Grants 1,473,635 1,473,635 -
   Not yet released 2,259,731 2,259,731 -
Total Place 3,797,027 3,797,243 216
TOTAL 9,013,956 9,046,355 32,399

Forecast outturn £9,046,355 or 100%

Table 2 - The variance is shown below:

Project

(under)/ 
over spend

£

Carry over 
to Future

£
Commercialisation
DWP 32,183 - It is likely that £24k of this over spend cannot be 

recovered from DWP.  Investigation work is underway 
to determine if there are any recharges to Sth Holland.

Strategy & Governance
- -

Place
Car Park resurfacing 216 - Minor overspend on retention sum.
Total 32,399 - = £32,399 Total

Virements this qtr:
o None

Risks:
o The affordable housing budget of £818k is partly funded from S106 funding.  £206k of this 

S106 funding has a time restriction and must be spent by September 2018.
o There is £3.96m of not released capital funding, if this is not released soon then the projects 

are unlikely to complete in year and funding will need to be carried over to future years.

Actions/Decisions

o None.

51



Page 7 of 7

Section 3 – Treasury

Security

The low actual risk for the Council’s portfolio of investments reflects its cautious approach to 
counterparty selection which in turn is reflected in low investment returns.

Maximum 
risk level

Actual 
risk level Variance

   Investments maturing in < 1 year 0.060% 0.018% 0.042%
   Investments maturing between 1 - 2 years 0.060% n/a -
   Investments maturing between  2 - 3 years 0.080% n/a -

Liquidity

The Council had an average of £5.8m instant access cash available during the reporting period.  This 
is slightly in excess of the working capital sum required (£5m) but reflects the instant access or short 
term nature of deposits in instant access accounts during this period of low returns.  The short term 
investments also reflect the expected rate rise.  The council did not use its overdraft facility in this 
reporting period.

Yield

Budget Forecast Variance
Interest receivable 2018-19 £114,796 £155,778 (£40,982)
Yield (3 month LIBID1) 0.553% 0.574% (0.021%)

The rate of return of 0.574% includes cash investments and loans to 3rd parties and is higher than the 
target yield.  The additional income is a result of loans to 3rd parties at market rates continuing for a 
longer time frame than originally budgeted and an increase to the base bank rate. 

Our exposure to different counterparties is shown in the graph below.

 

25,325,163, 92%

2,000,000, 7%

270,000, 1% banks - UK

Banks - 
Non UK

Loans to 
3rd Parties

Counterparty Exposure

Actions/Decisions required

None

1 LIBID – London Inter-bank Bid Rate

Currently 
19% of 

investments 
have a 

maturity of 
less than 1 

week.

52



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Councillor Phillip Cowen, Executive Member for Finance 

To: Cabinet, 4 September 2018

Author: Christine Marshall, Executive Director Commercialisation

Subject: Norfolk Business Rates 75% Pilot 2019-20

Purpose: This report provides information on the 75% Business Rates Pilot and 
proposes that the Council takes forward an application in conjunction with 
all the other Norfolk authorities, subject to a positive business case.

Recommendation(s): 

1) That Breckland agrees to be a partner in the Norfolk Business Rates Pilot Bid for 2019-20.

2) That delegated authority is given to the Section 151 Officer in consultation with the Executive 
Member for Finance to finalise the bid application, subject to a positive business case, whilst 
working in partnership with the other Norfolk authorities.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 On 24 July 2018, the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) 
published the business rates pilot prospectus, inviting local authorities to apply to pilot 
75% business rates retention in 2019-20.  The deadline for submission of applications is 
25 September 2018.  Full documentation can be found at 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/75-business-rates-retention-pilots-2019-to-
2020-prospectus

Due to the short timeframe between the MHCLG announcement and the closing date for 
submissions, this report only provides background information as the financial forecasts 
are not available at the time of writing the report. 

1.2 The 2019-20 pilots are based on similar criteria as the 2018-19 pilots, which Norfolk 
submitted an application for, with a slightly increased focus on robust governance around 
risk and reward.  There are however some key changes compared to the 2018-19 pilots 
which are:

o The offer is for 75% retention (in line with the proposed 20-21 scheme) rather than 
100%, which leads to a reduced benefit from piloting when compared to current 
pilots.

o There will not be a ‘no detriment’ clause, whereas there has been in previous years.  
This increases the risk of becoming a pilot as there is no protection to Norfolk 
authorities compared to the existing Pooling arrangements.

o The safety net level will be set at 95% rather than 92.5% to reflect the additional risk 
from the pilot and the lack of ‘no detriment’ clause.

o There will be a smaller programme and Government expects to approve fewer 
pilots.

o The 2018-19 pilots will end and those interested will be required to re-apply for 
2019-20 (although there will be a separate process for London and Devolution 
areas).

53

Agenda Item 13

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/75-business-rates-retention-pilots-2019-to-2020-prospectus
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/75-business-rates-retention-pilots-2019-to-2020-prospectus


Norfolk Business Rates Pilot
1.3   All Norfolk authorities are in the process of providing financial forecasts for 2019-20 for 

consolidation and then consideration for pilot applications.  The proposed timeline for the 
application process is:
By 24-08-18 Districts confirm 2019-20 forecasts 
W/C 27-08-18 NCC consolidate forecasts, estimate benefits and develop draft 

application
By 04-09-18 S151’s agree draft and Chief Executive/Leader report via email
06-09-18 Chief executives meeting to agree bid
13-09-18 Leaders meeting to sign off and agree bid
21-09-18 Norfolk Finance Officers Association meeting to confirm & sign off 

final application form
25-09-18 Bid submitted to MHCLG

1.4   The pilot prospectus states that ‘authorities selected as pilots in 2019/20 will be expected 
to forego Revenue Support Grant (RSG) and Rural Services Delivery Grant (RSDG)’.  
This means that the Norfolk business rates pilot would provide ’core’ funding before the 
benefit of any retained growth.

1.5 The current Business Rates Pool is established to target the retained revenue from 
additional business rates growth and promote actively and invest in economic 
development projects for the support and creation of new economic growth for the benefit 
of constituencies.  The additional business rates income is pooled into a Joint Investment 
Fund and the Pool Board allocate funding via a consensus.  To date Breckland has been 
allocated £450k for the Thetford Enterprise Park, £783k for the Snetterton Power project 
and £240k jointly with South Norfolk Council for the Cambridge/Norwich tech corridor.

1.6    Announcements regarding successful pools is expected to be around the same time as 
the Provisional Local government Settlement announcements.  If an application for a 
Norfolk pilot for 2019-20 is approved, the existing business rates Pool will be superseded 
and dissolved and the financial benefits would go to the pilot not the pool.  Governance 
arrangements will need to be agreed between all authorities and will need to set out how 
the gain and loss of business rates growth and decline is split.  We will also need to agree 
how to share the risks and rewards (tier splits).

1.7    75% business rates retention will increase the risk which business rates appeals pose.  
Taking on additional shares of business rates will increase the volatility in income that 
local authorities experience through business rates appeals and applications for rates 
relief.  Predicting business rates income is very difficult and 75% retention will mean our 
budget setting is further reliant on business rates forecasting and impacted by the volatility 
of the business rates system.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 That Breckland agrees to be a partner in the Norfolk Business Rates Pilot Bid for 2019-20 
and That delegated authority is given to the Section 151 Officer in consultation with the 
Executive Member for Finance to finalise the bid application, subject to a positive 
business case, whilst working in partnership with the other Norfolk authorities

2.2 That Breckland does not agree to be a partner in the Norfolk Business Rates Pilot Bid for 
2019-20 (understanding that all other Norfolk authorities may agree or disagree to be a 
partner themselves).

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

54



3.1 That Breckland is included in any Norfolk authorities pilot bid put forward.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 Entering into a business rates pilot could generate additional income for the Council 
(subject to financial modelling).

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality & 
Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management; 
Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Transformation Programme; 
Other. Where the report author considers that there may be implications under one or more 
of these headings, these are identified below.

5.1 Constitution & Legal
5.1.1 If successful, the final outcome of the bid will need incorporating into the Council’s budget 

for approval.

5.2 Financial 
5.2.1 Entering into a business rates pilot could generate additional income for the Council 

(subject to financial modelling) but the value is dependent on final income received by 
Norfolk authorities (after allowing for appeals, etc).

5.3 Risk Management 
5.9.1 The 2019-20 pilots do not include the ‘no detriment’ clause that protects current pilots.  

Norfolk authorities will need to agree how to fund any reduction in business rates up to the 
safety net level should this event occur during the pilot.

5.4 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales
5.12.1 Deadline for submission is 25 September 2018 and we expect the outcomes to be 

communicated around the same time as the Provisional Local Government finance 
Settlement.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 N/A.

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 NCC – Norfolk County Council

Background papers:- See The Committee Report Guide for guidance on how to complete 
this section

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Alison Chubbock, Chief Accountant
Telephone Number: 01362 656865
Email: alison.chubbock@breckland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No

55

file:///G:/Committee/Committee/Report%20Guide/2014/THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc
file:///G:/Committee/Committee/Report%20Guide/2014/THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc


Exempt Decision: No

This report refers to a Discretionary Service 

56


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	8 Norfolk FA Artificial Grass Pitch Project - Breckland Leisure Centre
	Appendix 1 for Norfolk FA Artificial Grass Pitch Project - Breckland Leisure Centre
	Appendix 2 - MULGA Usage

	9 Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019-20 review
	10 Breckland Local Development Scheme
	Appendix A LDS Ninth Revision

	11 Capital for Public Protection software systems replacement
	Appendix 1 for Amendment to Capital Programme (Public Protection Software)

	12 Quarter 1 Financial Performance 2018-19
	Appendix 1 for Quarter 1 Financial Performance 2018-19

	13 Norfolk Business Rates Pool and Pilot

